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Statistics in this report, including those in the financial statements, mainly cover the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. Some
of the statistics have been updated to September 2019, where appropriate, to reflect the updated situation.
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Mr Chaucer Leung assumed the post of Director-General of Communications on 8 July 2019.
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In 2018/19, we made available radio spectrum in
various frequency bands and strengthened facilitating
measures to support the development of 5G services.
We also assisted in planning the switching off of
analogue television services with a view to realising
full digitisation of free television services and reaping

the digital dividend for the society.
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It is my pleasure to present the 2018/19 annual report of the
Office of the Communications Authority (OFCA).

Market Overview

Driven by steady increases in mobile service subscriptions and
high popularity of smartphones and communications devices,
the mobile data service market continues to thrive. The number
of mobile service subscriptions increased to over 22 million in
2018/19, and the subscriber penetration rate was 276%’, one
of the highest in the world. In terms of mobile data volume,
Hong Kong is one of the world’s most dynamic and exciting
markets: the total volume of mobile data usage surged to 54
860 Terabytes per month, representing an average monthly

mobile data consumption of about 7.3 Gigabytes per capita.

Hong Kong is home to some of the most advanced optical-
fibre networks in the world, giving local consumers a choice of
affordable high-speed broadband services. The maturity and
sophistication of this market is reflected in both the household
broadband penetration rate, which as of March 2019
exceeded 93% with almost 2.71 million subscriptions, and that
over 77% of the subscriptions are served by optical fibre to the

buildings/premises.

Highlights of Our Work in 2018/19

Significant progress has been made by OFCA in 2018/19. Some

of our major accomplishments in the year are highlighted below.

Telecommunications Services

Preparation for the rollout of the fifth generation (5G) mobile
services in 2020 continued to be a major focus of our work in
2018/19. We assisted the Communications Authority (CA) in
making available spectrum in various frequency bands for the
rollout of 5G services, laying the foundation for an exciting
new chapter for Hong Kong's communications industry and

telecommunications service users.
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Pursuant to decisions made respectively by the CA and the
Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development (SCED),
a total of about 4 500 MHz of spectrum in various frequency
bands has been designated for the development of 5G
services. In December 2018, OFCA invited applications for
the administrative assignment of 3 700 MHz of spectrum in
the 26 GHz and 28 GHz bands, taking into account the ample
supply of spectrum in these bands. Three incumbent mobile
network operators were each assigned 400 MHz of spectrum to
enable them to commence network deployment of large scale
5G services starting from April 2019. As there are likely to be
competing demands for spectrum in the 3.3 GHz, 3.5 GHz and
4.9 GHz bands, the CA decided that such spectrum should be
assigned by way of auctions. OFCA is now working towards

conducting these auctions in the second half of 2019.

To facilitate timely and cost-effective rollout of 5G networks,
OFCA has worked closely with other government departments
on a pilot scheme to streamline the application and approval
arrangements for installation of radio base stations in
government premises. Since the launch of the pilot scheme in
March 2019, over 1 000 government venues have been made

available for application by mobile network operators.

During the year, we completed another major task by assisting
the CA to re-assign 200 MHz of spectrum in the 900 MHz
and 1800 MHz bands. This was accomplished through the
adoption of a hybrid administratively-assigned cum market-
based approach. The existing assignments of spectrum in the
900 MHz and 1800 MHz bands to the four incumbent spectrum
assignees will expire in January and September 2021. While
80 MHz of the spectrum was re-assigned administratively to
incumbents through the rights of first refusal, the remaining 120
MHz of the spectrum was re-assigned through an auction for

use in the new assignment term.

An important aspect of our work is to ensure the smooth
handover of spectrum when re-assignment occurs. We have set
up a working group with all four incumbent spectrum assignees

to coordinate the required technical work.

Calculation of subscriber penetration rate does not include machine type connections.
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Separately, OFCA provided assistance to the CA to complete
a review on the Class Licence for Offer of Telecommunications
Services (CLOTS) in 2018/19. The CLOTS authorises any
person meeting certain criteria or conditions to offer any
telecommunications services to the general public without
the establishment, operation or maintenance of any means of
telecommunications. To ensure that the CLOTS licensing regime
is up-to-date and that consumers are well protected, we assisted
the CA in conducting a public consultation in the year. Taking
into consideration the views collected, the licence conditions
in CLOTS will be amended, including the introduction of a
registration requirement for licensees having a customer base
of 10 000 subscriptions or more. The revised CLOTS will take
effect from 26 October 2019.

During the year, we also assisted the CA in completing a review
of Hong Kong’s public payphone service. In Hong Kong,
the majority of public payphones are provided by a universal
service provider under its Universal Service Obligation (USO) as
prescribed in the Telecommunications Ordinance (TO). Hong
Kong's exceptionally high rate of mobile service users resulted in
a decline in demand for public payphone services. In June 2017,
OFCA assisted the CA in conducting a review to determine the
reasonable number of public payphones that should remain
under the USO. After consulting all relevant stakeholders, about
35% of in-building-type public payphones and about 50% of
kiosk-type public payphones were decided to be excluded from
the USO.

In addition, we provided support to the Commerce and

Economic Development Bureau (CEDB) in the review of the

telecommunications regulatory framework under the TO. The
review aims to ensure the telecommunications regulatory
framework in Hong Kong will be 5G-ready and conducive to
future technology evolutions. We will continue to support the
CA in providing advice to the Government in relation to any
future legislative amendments to the TO having regard to the

submissions received in the consultation.

Improving access to telecommunications for everyone in Hong
Kong remains a key aspect of our work. Following the Chief
Executive’'s announcement in the 2017 Policy Address that the
Government would provide subsidies to telecommunications
operators to extend their fibre-based networks to villages in
remote areas, we are conducting a tender exercise for the

selection of operators to participate in the subsidy scheme.

OFCA's work involves much more than facilitating market
competition and investment. Consumer education is equally
important. To this end, we continued to implement a series of
publicity programmes and activities, such as a new series of TV &
Radio Announcements in the Public Interest, roving exhibitions,
public seminars and consumer education programmes tailor-
made for schools, in the past year to enhance public awareness
of smart use of communications services and assist consumers in

making informed service choices.

Broadcasting Services

One of the major tasks of OFCA in 2018/19 was to support
CEDB in its review of the television and sound broadcasting
regulatory regimes, with the aim of modernising the regulatory
framework in response to market needs and technological
developments. After the review, CEDB proposed to relax certain
restrictions and introduced legislative amendments to give effect
to such proposals. In addition to the legislative amendments
pursued by CEDB, we also assisted the CA in formulating and
implementing measures to streamline certain administrative

requirements.

The switching off of analogue television services (ASO) will be
a major milestone for Hong Kong's broadcasting industry. In
2018/19, OFCA continued to provide advisory services to CEDB
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on the planning for the ASO and the subsequent release of
spectrum for mobile telecommunications services. Our efforts
also involved liaising with Mainland authorities on the ASO
target date and post-ASO frequency coordination for use of the
470 — 806 MHz band. On 11 February 2019, the Government
announced the decision as approved by the Chief Executive in
Council that the ASO would proceed on 30 November 2020
(23:59 hours). A total of 160 MHz of spectrum in the 614 — 806
MHz band would be made available for the provision of mobile

telecommunications services subsequent to the ASO.

Major Challenges Ahead

We are fast entering the exciting 5G era, which will undoubtedly
accelerate growth and drive innovation in the communications
industry. In the year ahead, OFCA will continue to assist the
CA in assigning spectrum in the 3.3 GHz, 3.5 GHz, 4.9 GHz
and 26/28 GHz bands, and strive to identify more spectrum in
various frequency bands for the provision of 5G services. OFCA
will also implement relevant facilitating measures to promote

the effective rollout of 5G networks and services across Hong

Kong. We are committed to assisting the CA in performing
its regulatory functions on the broadcasting front — working
hard as always to strike a balance between providing a more
conducive business environment to broadcasting licensees
while protecting the interests of viewers. To ensure that we
fulfil this role to the best of our ability, we will remain vigilant to
the latest developments in global technology and industry best
practices, and provide our full support to the CA in updating
the regulatory and licensing regimes to ensure that they always
encourage further business investment. For the community,
we will uphold our commitment to meeting their needs and
aspirations for quality and state-of-the-art communications

services.

In closing, I wish to extend my heartiest thanks to the Chairman
and all members of the CA for their guidance, as well as
members of the advisory committees of OFCA and all other
stakeholders for their invaluable advice and thoughtful inputs
throughout the year. | would also like to thank all my colleagues
in OFCA for their full and professional support throughout
my tenure as the Director-General of Communications. Their
expertise and dedication have enabled OFCA to fully accomplish
its goals set for the last year, while tirelessly drawing up new
targets for future years. We are all determined to uphold Hong
Kong’s position as the leading communications hub in the Asia-

Pacific region.

This is my last report as the Director-General of Communications.
I would like to take this opportunity to wish my successor, Mr
Chaucer Leung, every success. | am confident that under his
leadership, OFCA will rise to the challenges ahead. Working
hand in hand with all stakeholders, OFCA is poised to scale
new heights and will continue to empower Hong Kong as the

frontrunner in communications services on the world stage.
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Development of Digital Terrestrial
Television Services

Domestic free television programme service licensees (free TV
licensees) are responsible for constructing transmission networks
or engaging other network service operators to deliver their free
TV services throughout Hong Kong. Among the three free TV
licensees, Television Broadcasts Limited (TVB) and HK Television
Entertainment Company Limited (HKTVE) (which operates
ViuTV) provide a total of seven digital terrestrial television (DTT)
programme channels using radio spectrum for transmission’.
Since the launch of DTT services in late 2007, a total of 29
transmitting stations have been constructed by phases.
Currently, the overall coverage of DTT transmission networks is

close to 100% of the population.

In Hong Kong, both analogue television and DTT services
operate in the 470 — 806 MHz band, the frequency band
allocated by the International Telecommunication Union (ITU)
primarily for TV broadcasting services worldwide. During the
year, OFCA provided advisory services to the Government on the
planning for ASO in Hong Kong and the release of spectrum for
mobile telecommunications services after ASO. OFCA liaised
with the Mainland authorities on the ASO target date and post-
ASO frequency coordination. After ASO, TVB, HKTVE and

Radio Television Hong Kong will be required to relocate their TV

A REBIBEEREREN2020F128 1854 -

Full digital TV broadcast will commence on 1 December 2020.
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frequency channels in the 614 — 806 MHz band to the 470 - 614
MHz band, thereby making available a total of 160 MHz of
spectrum in the 614 — 806 MHz band for the provision of high
value-added mobile telecommunications services. OFCA will
continue to coordinate with the Mainland authorities on the use
of the radio spectrum in the 470 — 806 MHz band, and with the
relevant broadcasters on the relocation of their TV frequency

channels.

Review of Television and

Sound Broadcasting Regulatory
Framework by the Government
and Implementation of Measures
by the CA to Streamline
Administrative Requirements

In 2018/19, OFCA provided support to CEDB in the latter’s
review of the television and sound broadcasting regulatory
frameworks with the aim of modernising the regulatory
framework in response to market needs and technological
developments. After the review, CEDB proposed to relax cross-
media ownership restrictions in relation to free television, pay
television and sound broadcasting licences; and foreign control
restrictions in relation to free TV licences. CEDB also proposed
to remove the requirement that a free TV or sound broadcasting
licensee must be a non-subsidiary company. In March 2019,
CEDB introduced into the Legislative Council the Broadcasting
and Telecommunications Legislation (Amendment) Bill 2019
proposing legislative amendments to give effect to the above

relaxation measures.

Apart from the above legislative amendments pursued by CEDB,
the CA also implemented non-legislative measures as part of
the multipronged approach to facilitate the development of
the broadcasting industry. In July 2018, the CA revised codes
of practice to relax the regulation of indirect advertising in

television programme services and to lift the prohibition on the

TVB and HKTVE use the DTT transmission network to broadcast their programme channels. The other free TV licensee, Fantastic Television

Limited, currently provides two programme channels using a fixed network for transmission.
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broadcast of advertisements for undertakers and associated
services. Such measures enable the industry to diversify their
source of advertising while still safeguard viewers' interests.
OFCA also assisted the CA in streamlining certain administrative
requirements, thereby further easing the regulatory burdens
on the broadcasting industry. Specifically, the reporting
requirements were relaxed in January 2019 by allowing the
licensees (pay television and sound broadcasting services)
to submit reports on comments/complaints received on a
quarterly basis instead of on a monthly basis, and waiving the
requirement for free television licensees to submit the types and
schedule of children’s programmes. Furthermore, the period
for broadcasting licensees to make representations to the
Broadcast Complaints Committee under the CA in response to
public complaints has been extended from seven working days
to 14 working days with effect from February 2019. OFCA
also implemented in March 2019 changes to administrative
measures for enforcing foreign control restrictions applicable to
free television licensees by simplifying the prescribed form for a
declaration on voting control by shareholders before a general
meeting, adjusting the deadlines for submission of a declaration,
and disclosing to licensees the approval of applications for
acquiring/holding shares by unqualified voting controllers subject

to the consent of an applicant.

Licence Administration

Applications for Grant/Renewal of a
Non-domestic Television Programme Service
Licence and Other Licensable Television
Programme Service Licences

In 2018/19, OFCA processed an application for a new non-
domestic television programme service licence, which was
subsequently rejected by the CA. OFCA also handled nine
applications for renewal of other licensable television programme
service licences for the provision of television programme

services in hotel rooms in Hong Kong.
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counted as a single case.

Handling of Broadcast Complaints

The CA does not pre-censor broadcast content. Instead, it
adopts a complaint-driven approach to ensure that broadcast
content complies with prevailing legislation, licence conditions
and the codes of practice that it has issued. As the executive
arm of the CA, OFCA assists the CA in handling complaints
about broadcast materials in accordance with provisions in the
Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391)
(B(MP)O) and the broadcast complaint handling procedures of
the CA.

In 2018/19, OFCA handled 1 504 cases (involving 3 827
complaints)®, which represented a reduction of 19% in the
number of cases, and a reduction of 12% in the number of
complaints processed, as compared with the figures recorded
in 2017/18 (1 866 cases, involving 4 342 complaints). Among
those cases handled, 17 cases (423 complaints) were referred
to the Broadcast Complaints Committee under the CA for
consideration before submission to the CA for deliberation and
determination. Details of the complaint cases considered by
the CA are published on its website. The Director-General of
Communications handled the remaining 1 487 cases (involving
3 404 complaints) relating to breaches of a minor nature;
allegations which did not constitute any breach; or were outside
the remit of section 11(1) of the B(MP)O (i.e. the substance
of the complaints did not involve contravention of relevant
legislation, licence conditions or provisions in the codes of
practice) with powers delegated by the CA.

To ensure operational efficiency, complaints with similar allegations relating to the same issue or broadcast material are handled together and
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Active Preparations for the 5G Era

Making 5G Spectrum Available in Multiple
Frequency Bands

With the global and regional harmonisation of 5G spectrum
allocations and the start of supply of commercial 5G equipment
and consumer products, the market expects commercial 5G
services to be available at some time in 2020. 5G services will
revolutionise the mobile user experience empowered by its
excellent technical capabilities for high speed, high capacity, high
reliability, massive connectivity, and low latency communications.
It is widely expected that 5G will open up vast potential for
various commercial and smart city applications.

Between May and September 2018, OFCA assisted the CA in
conducting three separate joint public consultations with SCED
in relation to frequency allocation, assignment arrangements
and the related spectrum utilisation fee (SUF) for the spectrum
in the 3.5 GHz band, 26 GHz and 28 GHz bands, 3.3 GHz and
4.9 GHz bands. Having thoroughly considered all the views
and comments received in the public consultations, SCED and
the CA promulgated three joint statements on 13 December
2018 to announce their respective decisions on the frequency
allocation and assignment arrangements for the spectrum in
these frequency bands, as well as the related SUF.

In gist, an additional total amount of about 4 500 MHz of
spectrum in multiple frequency bands has been made available
starting from April 2019 for the provision of 5G services. Among
the total, 4 100 MHz of spectrum in the 26 GHz and 28 GHz
bands are put to the market by way of administrative assignment

in view of the ample supply of spectrum in the high frequency

bands. 380 MHz of spectrum in the 3.3 GHz, 3.5 GHz and 4.9
GHz bands will be assigned by way of auction in the last quarter
of 2019 as there are likely to be competing demands.

Re-allocation of the 3.5 GHz Band

At present, the 3.5 GHz band is being used for fixed satellite
services. The CA has decided to re-allocate the band to mobile
services starting from April 2020. As set out in the CA Statement
issued on 28 March 2018, to enable the co-existence of the
existing satellite stations and future mobile stations operating
in the same and adjacent bands, relevant mitigating measures

should be adopted before the effective date of the re-allocation.

Among others, restriction zones will be set up around the
existing satellite earth stations for telemetry, tracking and
control of the licensed satellites in orbit (TT&C stations). To
address the concern raised by the mobile industry on the
restriction zones, OFCA established a working group in June
2018 under its Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
Advisory Committee to study technical arrangements for
the deployment of radio base stations operating in the
3.5 GHz band within the restriction zones. The working group
comprises relevant stakeholders including representatives of
mobile network operators, operators of the TT&C stations, Hong
Kong Science and Technology Park, and Hong Kong Applied
Science and Technology Research Institute. The working group
explored different mitigating measures and conducted field trials
to verify the feasibility of such measures to allow controlled co-
existence of the TT&C stations and radio base stations inside
the restriction zones. The CA endorsed a report submitted
by the working group with recommended guidelines on the
implementation of mitigating measures for CAs consideration in
June 2019. Relevant information and requirements have been
included in the Information Memorandum for the auction of the
spectrum in the 3.5 GHz band.

Assignment of the Spectrum in 26 GHz and 28
GHz Bands

Among the 4 100 MHz of spectrum in the 26 GHz and 28
GHz bands, 3 700 MHz of spectrum has been set aside as non-
shared spectrum for the provision of large scale public mobile

services. OFCA invited applications for administrative spectrum
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assignment in the two bands in December 2018, and a total
of three applications from incumbent MNOs were received. In
March 2019, OFCA decided to offer the assignment of 400
MHz of spectrum to each of the three applicants as per their
applications. A Unified Carrier Licence (UCL) was granted to
each of them in April 2019 to effect the assignment of spectrum

for the provision of large scale 5G services.

400 MHz of spectrum in the 26 GHz and 28 GHz bands is set
aside and will be assigned on a geographically shared basis
for providing localised wireless broadband services in different
specified locations such as university campuses, industrial
estates, the airport and technology parks, etc. Such a sharing
arrangement will facilitate the development of innovative 5G

and smart city applications.

600 MHz and 700 MHz Bands

The CA plans to make available a maximum of 160 MHz of
spectrum in the 600 MHz (617 — 698 MHz) and 700 MHz
(703 — 803 MHz) bands after ASO for the provision of indoor
public mobile services within 2021, including 20 MHz spectrum
in the 700 MHz band for outdoor use. More spectrum in the
700 MHz band may be used for outdoor use by 5G services
upon further coordination with the Mainland authorities.

New Frequency Bands for 5G

OFCA will continue its efforts in identifying more spectrum
to support the development of 5G services in Hong Kong. In
particular, OFCA will keep in view the outcome of the World
Radiocommunication Conference to be convened in end 2019
on, among others, identification of frequency bands between
24.25 GHz and 86 GHz for 5G services. Subject to market
demand, the CA will then consider making available this newly
identified spectrum to the industry.

Facilitating the Industry to Conduct Trials for
5G Technologies and Applications

To better prepare for the launch of 5G services, as of 31 March
2019, the CA had issued a total of 25 trial permits to mobile
network operators and equipment vendors with temporary,
free-of-charge spectrum assignment for test purposes. OFCA

welcomes applications from other interested parties for

conducting further 5G trials.

Facilitating the Rollout of 5G Networks

For deployment of 5G services in Hong Kong, mobile network
operators will need to establish a larger number of radio base
stations as compared with previous generations of mobile
services. To facilitate the expedient and effective rollout of 5G
networks, OFCA has since March 2019 launched a pilot scheme
to open up more than 1 000 suitable government premises for
mobile network operators to install radio base stations with a
streamlined approval process. OFCA has set up a dedicated
team to coordinate with mobile network operators and relevant
government departments on the matters concerned, and issued
the “Guidance Notes for Submission of Applications under the
Pilot Scheme for Installation of Radio Base Stations at Selected
Government Venues” to set out the principles, requirements and
streamlined procedures in respect of the applications under the
scheme. The scheme has been well received by the industry. By
the end of June 2019, mobile network operators had selected
about 293 and 672 government premises for installation of
radio base stations by end 2019 and 2020 respectively. OFCA
will review the scheme in late 2019 in the light of experience
gained with a view to extending the scheme to other suitable

government premises.

OFCA has also been working closely with the industry to identify
suitable street level furniture and facilities for the installation
of radio base stations, such as at public payphone kiosks,
bus passenger shelters etc., and is coordinating with relevant
government departments to facilitate the conduct of technical
trials, formulation of relevant procedures and sorting out of
approval requirements for use of these street furniture and

facilities to install radio base stations.

Facilitating Development of
Wireless Internet of Things Services

Internet of Things is an emerging technology that enables
the provision of communications platforms and services for
interconnected devices to generate, exchange and consume
data with minimal human intervention. Since the creation of a
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new licensing regime for the provision of Wireless Internet of
Things (WIoT) platforms and services using the shared frequency
band of 920 — 925 MHz by the CA in December 2017, three
WIoT licences have been issued. On the other hand, the existing
mobile network operators may also provide WIoT services by
adopting mobile technology such as Narrowband Internet of
Things with the use of their frequency spectrum assigned under
the UCL. With the introduction of a new WIoT device fee
under the UCL effective from 31 January 2019, any WIoT device
operated under the UCL is subject to a much reduced level of $2
for each WIoT device, which is set at the same level as the fee
under the WIoT Licence. OFCA will continue to support the CA
to facilitate the development and competitive supply of WioT

services in Hong Kong.

Re-assignment of Frequency
Spectrum in the 900 MHz and
1800 MHz Bands

The current assignments of 50 MHz of spectrum in the 900 MHz
band and 150 MHz of spectrum in the 1800 MHz band will
expire in January and September 2021 respectively. Provisional
assignments of 20 MHz of spectrum have been made to
each of the four incumbent spectrum assignees through the
offer of a right of first refusal in September 2018. Auction
for the remaining 120 MHz of spectrum was conducted in
December 2018 and the spectrum was successfully auctioned
off to the four incumbent spectrum assignees at a total SUF
of $6 billion. Together with the SUF for the spectrum in the
1800 MHz band re-assigned administratively through the
right of first refusal at $4.32 billion, the spectrum assignees
are required to pay a total SUF of $10.32 billion for the new

15-year term of assignments.

To ensure a seamless transition when the spectrum is changed
over in 2021, OFCA convened a technical working group in
May 2019 comprising representatives of all the incumbent and
new spectrum assignees, to coordinate the relevant technical
arrangements to reconfigure their existing networks and/or roll

out additional network infrastructures.

Review of the Telecommunications
Regulatory Framework by the
Government

In 2018/19, OFCA provided support in the review of the
telecommunications regulatory framework under the TO, which
was conducted by CEDB with a view to embracing the arrival of
5G and Internet of Things technologies and facilitating the trade.
OFCA will continue to provide necessary support to the CA in
relation to the review of the telecommunications regulatory
framework conducted by the CEDB and any future legislative
amendments to the TO having regard to stakeholders’ views
received in the exercise. In parallel, OFCA will provide support
to the CA in respect of the introduction of various streamlined
administrative measures with the aim of further facilitating the

operation of the industry.

Review of the Class License Regime
for Offer of Telecommunications
Services

CLOTS created by the CA pursuant to section 8(1)(aa) of the TO
authorises any person meeting the criteria or conditions set out
therein to offer any telecommunications services to the general
public without establishment, operation or maintenance of any
means of telecommunications. In view of the emergence of
new technologies and the adoption of new business models and
commercial practices by market players, OFCA assisted the CA in
conducting a public consultation in January 2019 so as to solicit
views and comments from the public on its proposals to update
the relevant conditions of the CLOTS, including the introduction
of a registration requirement for CLOTS licensees serving a
large customer base. Taking into account views and comments
received therein, the CA issued a statement on 26 April 2019 to
promulgate its decision to vary the conditions in the CLOTS with
a view to enhancing regulatory oversight and providing better

consumer protection.

To allow existing CLOTS licensees sufficient time to make
necessary adjustments to their business systems and procedures
for compliance, the revised CLOTS will take effect from
26 October 2019, while the newly introduced registration
requirement will further be subject to a three-month grace
period after the effective date, i.e. by 26 January 2020.
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Reduction of Telecommunications
Licence Fees

OFCA supported the CA in preparing a joint public consultation
with the SCED on proposals to reduce the licence fees for
five types of licences issued under the TO and to introduce a
new fee component for WIoT under the UCL to facilitate the
development of WIoT services. The consultation was conducted
from June to August 2018.

Having carefully considered the views and comments received
during the consultation exercise, the CA and SCED jointly
promulgated their decisions in October 2018 to proceed
with the fees reduction proposals and introduction of the
WIoT fee component under the UCL. Customer connection
fee under UCLs is reduced from $700 to $500 for each
100 customer connections; and mobile station fee of public
radiocommunications service licences for public radio paging
services and services-based operator licences (Class 3) (mobile
virtual network operators) is reduced from $700 to $500 for
each set of 100 mobile stations. For mobile radio system mobile
station licences and private mobile radio system licences, the

licence fee for each mobile station is reduced from $270 to $220.

Following the enactment of the Telecommunications (Carrier
Licences) (Amendment) Regulation 2018, the new licence fees

became effective on 31 January 2019.

Review of the Number of Public
Payphones under the Universal
Service Obligation

Public payphone is a form of basic telephone service which the
universal service provider is required under its USO to provide.
The cost of providing a public payphone service subject to the
USO is shared by the fixed and mobile services operators. In
view of the diminishing demand for public payphone service in
recent years, the CA announced on 29 June 2017 that a review
would be conducted to determine the reasonable number of
public payphones that should be subject to the USO.

OFCA has since conducted the review in accordance with the
guiding principles laid down by the CA. For in-building type
public payphones, consultations with the owners/managers

of the sites were completed in February 2018. Based on the

feedback from the owners/managers of the sites, OFCA decided
to exclude about 35% (515) of the in-building type public
payphones from the USO. For kiosk type public payphones,
consultations with all 18 District Councils were completed in
March 2019. Based on the feedback of the District Councils,
OFCA decided to exclude about 50% (765) of the kiosk type
public payphones from the USO.

Implementation of the Subsidy
Scheme to Extend Fibre-based
Networks to Villages in Remote
Areas

To speed up the progress of extending network coverage by
telecommunications companies in remote areas in Hong Kong,
the Chief Executive announced in the 2017 Policy Address that
the Government would provide subsidies to telecommunications
operators to encourage the extension of fibre-based networks
to villages in remote areas (Subsidy Scheme). OFCA has been

tasked to implement the Subsidy Scheme.

The Subsidy Scheme covers 235 villages across nine districts in
the New Territories and outlying islands, which are located far
away from the existing fibre-based backbone networks of fixed
network operators, where villagers can only choose broadband
services delivered over copper-based networks at a speed of 10
Mbps or below.

A funding of $774.4 million has been approved by the Finance
Committee of the Legislative Council for the implementation of
the Subsidy Scheme. OFCA is conducting a tender exercise for
selection of fixed network operators to participate in the Subsidy
Scheme. Selected fixed network operators will be subsidised
to roll out lead-in connections to the vicinity of the entrances of
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the villages concerned. Depending on the works progress and
views of the villagers, it is expected that the subsidised lead-
in connections can be extended to the villages concerned by

phases from 2021 onwards.

Development of Fixed Broadband
Services

With the continuous network rollout of fixed network
operators, the Hong Kong community is able to enjoy nearly
ubiquitous coverage of broadband networks deploying various
technologies. As of March 2019 there were around 2.71 million
residential and commercial fixed-broadband subscriptions, with
a household penetration rate of 93%. Broadband services are
now available at speeds of up to 10 Gbps. Around 80% of
the fixed broadband subscriptions are supported by broadband

services with speeds of 100 Mbps or above.

According to a report issued by the Fibre to the Home Council
Europe in March 2019, Hong Kong ranked the sixth worldwide
in fibre to home/building household penetration among the 64

economies under comparison.

Landing of New Submarine Cable
Systems in Hong Kong

With the support of OFCA's single-point-of-contact service, five
regional and transcontinental systems (namely, Pacific Light
Cable Network, Hong Kong-Guam Cable System, Hong Kong-
Americas Cable System, South East Asia-Japan 2 Cable System
and Bay to Bay Express Cable System), as well as two domestic
systems, (namely, Ultra Express Link and TKO Connect) are being
constructed and planned for putting into service between 2019
and 2021. OFCA will continue to assist operators in applying
for the necessary statutory approvals for construction of new
submarine cable systems in Hong Kong.

Development of Hong Kong's
Satellite Networks

Satellite spectrum and orbital positions are scarce natural

resources. Use of these resources by communications

satellites registered in Hong Kong should also comply with
the coordination and notification requirements of the ITU. In
this regard, OFCA supports the licensed satellite operators of
Hong Kong to attend satellite network coordination meetings
with foreign administrations from time to time, and assists
in the processing of licences for the launching and operation
of satellites in space orbits. In 2018/19, OFCA participated
in four satellite network coordination meetings with the
administrations of Norway, the United States of America, Japan
and the United Arab Emirates respectively. Following the
launch of the new satellite APSTAR 6C in 2018, there are now
12 satellites in orbit operated by two Hong Kong companies
licensed to provide satellite communications services.

Setting and Enforcing
Telecommunications Standards

OFCA closely monitors international developments in
telecommunications standardisation, and updates local
technical standards in order to meet the needs of the industry
and the public. In 2018/19, one new and one revised technical
standard were approved and issued by the CA after consulting
the Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards Advisory
Committee.

Qualified local and overseas testing laboratories are now
providing testing and certification services for telecommunications
equipment against technical standards prescribed by the
CA. In particular, local laboratories accredited by the CA
as local certification bodies (LCBs) can offer a full range of
telecommunications equipment testing and certification
services. In 2018/19, LCBs and foreign certification bodies
issued 550 equipment certificates to meet the needs of the

telecommunications equipment market.

To ensure that all LCBs providing telecommunications equipment
testing and certification services meet the service quality and
performance standards required by OFCA, OFCA will continue to
closely monitor their performance by conducting documentary
checks, plant visits and reviews on a regular basis. So far, all LCBs
have been performing up to the requirements set by OFCA.
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Handling of and Investigations
into Competition Complaints

in the Telecommunications

and Broadcasting Sectors, and
Merger & Acquisition Cases in the
Telecommunications Sector

The Competition Ordinance (CO) provides for a cross-sectoral
competition law prohibiting anti-competitive conduct in
all sectors. Under the CO, the CA is conferred concurrent
jurisdiction with the Competition Commission to enforce the
CO in respect of the conduct of undertakings operating in
the telecommunications and broadcasting sectors, including
merger and acquisition activities involving carrier licensees in the

telecommunications sector.

Pursuant to the memorandum of understanding signed by the
CA and the Competition Commission, the CA will ordinarily
assume the role of the lead authority for matters falling within
the concurrent jurisdiction. For matters involving issues that are
partly within and partly outside the concurrent jurisdiction, the
CA and the Competition Commission will discuss and agree on

how best to process the matter on a case-by-case basis.

From 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, a total of 42 complaints
and/or enquiries were received under the CO, with 39 cases
closed without the need for further actions and three cases

under processing.

During the year, OFCA also assisted the CA in reviewing two
transactions under the merger rule of the CO. While no
further action was considered necessary in respect of one of
the transactions, the CA identified competition issues in the
other transaction concerning the proposed acquisition of WTT
Holding Corp. announced by HKBN Ltd. in August 2018. In
this case, the merging parties offered commitments to the CA
in January 2019 under section 60 of the CO to address the CA’s
competition concerns, in return for the CA not commencing
an investigation or bringing proceedings in the Competition
Tribunal in relation to the transaction. The CA considered the
proposed commitments sufficient in addressing its competition
concerns, and sought representations in accordance with the CO

from the industry and interested parties regarding its proposed

acceptance of the proposed commitments. Having considered
the representations received, the CA took the view that the
proposed commitments would need to be revised to address
certain matters raised in the representations, and communicated
its views to the merging parties. The merging parties then
offered a set of revised commitments in March 2019. The CA
considered the revised commitments sufficient to effectively
address its competition concerns. The CA announced its
decision in April 2019 to accept the revised commitments under
section 60 of the CO and not to commence an investigation into

the transaction under section 39 of the CO.

Handling of and Investigations
into Complaints about

Unfair Trade Practices in the
Telecommunications and
Broadcasting Sectors

The fair trading sections of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(TDO) prohibit certain specified unfair trade practices by traders

in the provision of goods and services to consumers.

The CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the Customs
and Excise Department to enforce the fair trading sections of
the TDO in relation to the commercial practices of licensees
under the TO and the BO directly connected with the provision
of telecommunications and broadcasting services. The two
enforcement agencies have entered into a memorandum of
understanding to co-ordinate the performance of their functions
under the fair trading sections of the TDO and have issued a set
of enforcement guidelines to provide guidance for traders and

consumers as to the operation of the fair trading sections.

From 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, OFCA handled a total
of 356 complaints under the TDO. Of these cases, 303 were
closed due to insufficient evidence to suspect/establish a
contravention, or because they fell outside the scope of the
TDO; 13 cases were closed after the CA issued advisory letters
to the licensees concerned to bring to their attention the subject
matter and advise them of the need to improve their relevant
commercial practices in relation to the sale, supply or promotion

of telecommunications or broadcasting services to consumers;
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and the remaining 40 cases were under processing at various

stages.

Enforcement of the Unsolicited
Electronic Messages Ordinance

Do-not-call Registers

The CA has established three Do-Not-Call (DNC) Registers, for
facsimile messages, short messages and pre-recorded telephone
messages respectively, under the Unsolicited Electronic Messages
Ordinance (UEMO). Commercial electronic messages (CEMs)
must not be sent to registered telephone numbers unless the
senders have obtained consents from the registered users. By
March 2019, more than 2.7 million telephone numbers were
registered with these three DNC Registers. Apart from not
sending CEMs to the registered telephone numbers on the DNC
Registers, senders of CEMs are also required under the UEMO to
comply with a number of rules. For example, they must provide
the recipients with their contact information and an “unsubscribe
facility” in their CEMs so that the recipients can approach the

senders concerned and unsubscribe from receiving their CEMs.

In 2018/19, OFCA received 637 reports in relation to suspected
contraventions of the UEMO, a reduction of about 6% from
that of the previous year. OFCA will continue to monitor the
compliance situation on various platforms and streamline the

procedures for more effective enforcement.

Enforcement

If the number of reports received against a sender is below a
certain threshold, OFCA will issue an advisory letter reminding
the sender to observe the requirements under the UEMO. If
the number of reports received against a sender exceeds the
threshold, or that OFCA continues to receive reports against the
same sender after the issuance of an advisory letter, OFCA will
conduct a formal investigation and may issue a warning letter
to that sender. In 2018/19, a total of 97 advisory letters and 24

warning letters were issued.

In the event of repeated contraventions by the senders of CEMs,
the CA may issue enforcement notices in accordance with
section 38 of the UEMO directing the senders to take steps to
remedy the contraventions. Anyone who fails to comply with
an enforcement notice may be liable to a fine of up to $100,000

on the first conviction.

Continued Efforts to Strengthen
Consumer Protection in the Use of
Telecommunications Services

Ongoing Implementation of “Mobile Bill
Shock” Preventive Measures

The growing popularity of smartphones and advanced mobile
devices has driven the growth of and demand for mobile data
services in recent years. At the same time, consumer complaints
relating to mobile broadband billing disputes is a common
concern among consumers. Many of these complaints involve

“mobile bill shock”, which refers to the shock consumers

A BRWEBTREHETES - HEZECANBEE 2 RBHN
HEERS -
OFCA promotes consumer messages on smart use of mobile data
roaming services through various publicity activities.
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OFCA actively launches consumer education campaign every year to enhance public knowledge about smart use of

communications services.



experience upon receiving unexpectedly high mobile bill
charges. “Mobile bill shock” is mainly caused by unintentional
or inadvertent usage of mobile data services, locally or while

roaming outside Hong Kong.

To address this problem, OFCA has promulgated a series of
preventive measures for the industry since May 2010. These
measures include allowing customers to opt out of individual
services; setting a charge ceiling; setting a usage cap for all kinds
of usage-based mobile services; and alerting customers through
short messages when their pre-determined usage threshold is

reached, or when their roaming data usage is triggered.

To increase the transparency of the relevant service information,
OFCA has published measures implemented by individual
operators on its website and provided regular updates. On top
of these measures, OFCA has organised a series of consumer
education programmes to enhance consumers’ awareness
and knowledge of mobile data services. OFCA has also
posted a data usage calculator on its website as a tool for
consumers to estimate their data usage consumption. With the
implementation of the abovementioned preventive measures by
mobile network operators and mobile virtual network operators
as well as our on-going consumer education efforts, the number
of complaints in relation to “mobile bill shock” decreased from
143 cases in 2017 to 105 cases in 2018, representing a year-on-

year decrease of 27%.

Ongoing Implementation of Fair Usage Policy
Guidelines

Fixed and mobile broadband service providers offer a variety
of service plans to consumers, including plans with “unlimited
usage”. However, certain “unlimited usage” service plans are
in fact subject to usage restrictions imposed by service providers
in the name of Fair Usage Policy (FUP). The FUP is intended
to prevent excessive usage of network resources by individual
customers, which may adversely affect the network performance
and hamper other customers’ use of the service. For example,
service providers may impose restrictions by lowering the
network service priority or reducing the access speed for

customers whose data usage has exceeded a certain threshold.

Nevertheless, consumers may not be aware of the existence
of the FUP or understand the relevant terms and conditions.
Customers of “unlimited service” plans in particular may feel
aggrieved when their data usage is subject to restriction because
of the FUP.

In order to protect consumer interests and enhance the
transparency of service information, the CA issued a set of
FUP guidelines in November 2011, governing the way service
providers should implement their FUP. The mandatory guidelines

have been in effect since February 2012.

In 2018/19, OFCA assisted the CA in handling six FUP-related
complaint cases. None of them was found to be in contravention
of the FUP guidelines.

Enhancement of the Broadband Performance
Test System

Since December 2010, OFCA has launched a broadband
performance test system to enable broadband service users
to measure the performance of their broadband connections,
including download and upload speeds, network latency, packet
loss and jitter. Apart from users of desktop and notebook
computers, users of smart phones and tablets running iOS
and Android operating systems may also make use of the test

system.

From time to time, OFCA reviews and upgrades the test system
to further enhance its capability and performance. Currently,
it offers desktop users and users of iOS- and Android-based
mobile devices speed tests of up to 5 000 Mbps and 1 000
Mbps respectively. From service launch to March 2019, more

than 87 million tests were performed under the system.

Consumer Education Programmes

OFCA continued to organise the annual Consumer Education
Campaign from August 2018 to March 2019 to sustain its
educational effort to enhance public awareness of the smart use
of communications services through an array of programmes

and activities. Throughout the campaign period, six roving
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OFCA boosts the publicity of the Customer Complaint Settlement
Scheme through various media channels.
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A new series of TV Announcements are launched to strengthen the publicity of various consumer messages.

exhibitions were held at popular public venues and shopping
malls located in different districts to disseminate useful
consumer messages to the public through interesting games
and family activities. Another 19 mini exhibitions were also held
at government offices, public libraries and schools to maximise
our reach to the public. In addition, four public seminars and
15 community talks were held to educate the public about
OFCA's preparatory work for the 5G era, and the safe use
of communications services. Students remain an important
target audience. By staging a total of 40 drama performances
at both primary and secondary schools, OFCA reached out to
over 11 000 students to convey to them different consumer
messages on how to use communications services smartly. In
addition, OFCA continued to promote consumer messages on
the Facebook fan page “Communications Master ¢ OFCA” to

maintain communications with the public.

In 2018/19, OFCA produced and launched four new sets of
TV & Radio Announcements in the Public Interest, namely one
set on communications in country parks, two sets on smart
use of mobile data roaming services, and one set on points to
note when renewing service contracts, to update our consumer

messages and strengthen our publicity effort.

Continued Efforts to Facilitate the
Implementation of Self-regulatory
Measures

Customer Complaint Settlement Scheme

The voluntary Customer Complaint Settlement Scheme
(CCSS) helps resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
telecommunications service providers and their residential/
personal customers by means of mediation. The mediation
service is provided by an independent mediation service centre
(CCSS Centre) set up under the Communications Association
of Hong Kong (CAHK) with the voluntary participation of all
major telecommunications service providers in Hong Kong.
OFCA supports the CCSS by contributing the necessary funding,
vetting the CCSS applications against the acceptance criteria,
and monitoring the performance and the governance of the

scheme.

In 2018/19, there were 54 eligible applications, 33 of which
were resolved before referral to the CCSS Centre, 20 were
satisfactorily settled upon referral to the CCSS Centre, and one

case was not settled after mediation.

To raise public awareness of the CCSS, a series of publicity
activities were conducted, including distribution of leaflets
through local free newspapers, publication of featured posts
on social media platforms, and website banner and keyword
search advertisements, as well as roving exhibitions and public

seminars. OFCA will continue to support the CCSS.
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Participation in International and
Regional Conferences

OFCA participates in the activities of, and maintains close contact
with, a number of international and regional organisations,
either as an independent member of those organisations or as

part of the Chinese delegation.

In 2018/19, OFCA attended a total of 18 conferences/meetings
held by regional and international organisations, including the
ITU, Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), Asia Pacific
Telecommunity (APT), International Institute of Communications
(IIC) and Unsolicited Communications Enforcement Network.
The more significant events of the year were the ITU
Plenipotentiary Conference, Second Session of Conference
Preparatory Meeting of ITU for the World Radiocommunication
Conference 2019, and the IIC International Regulators
Forum. OFCA will continue to participate in the activities
of the ITU, APEC and APT with the aim of improving the
telecommunications and information infrastructure in the Asia-

Pacific region.

Exchanges with the Mainland of
China and Overseas Authorities

In 2018/19, OFCA received four delegations from the Mainland
and overseas, and exchanged views and experiences with
them on various issues relating to communications services.
They included a delegation from the ITU, a delegation from
the Bureau of Radio Regulation of the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology (MIIT) of China, a delegation from the
Guangdong Communications Administration, and a delegation

from the Macao Post and Telecommunications Bureau.

During the year, OFCA attended meetings in Shenzhen,
Guangzhou and Beijing with the Bureau of Radio Regulation
of MIIT and the National Radio and Television Administration of

China. OFCA also had an annual bilateral meeting in Singapore

with the Info-communications Media Development Authority of

Singapore.

Media and Community Relations

OFCA proactively keeps the public and the media informed
of its work. In 2018/19, OFCA issued 28 press releases on
the CA's major decisions in relation to broadcasting and
telecommunications regulatory issues and OFCA's major
initiatives, operations and events. Speeches and presentations
made by the Director-General of Communications at public
events and industry conferences are also published on our
website. These measures help disseminate our messages to
both the industry and the public, and enable them to gain a

better understanding of our work.

Public Education and Communications

In 2018/19, OFCA gave eight talks concerning broadcasting
services in Hong Kong to students of four primary schools,
three secondary schools and one university; and two talks to
participants of the Community Involvement Broadcasting Service
(CIBS). Primary and secondary students were briefed on the
different categories of television programme services in Hong
Kong and how audiences could make informed viewing choices.
University students were briefed on the regulation of television
and sound broadcasting services. The participants of CIBS were

briefed on the programme standards of radio services.

Participation in Communications
Activities

OFCA continued to participate in the annual “Mountaineering
Safety Promotion Day” jointly organised by the Civil Aid Service
and 22 other government departments and organisations
in October 2018 in Tuen Mun. With the aim of promoting
hiking safety, OFCA set up an exhibition booth at the event
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OFCA actively participates in the “Mountaineering Safety
Promotion Day” to promote the use of effective emergency
communication means in country parks.



and delivered a talk to visitors to promote effective means of

communication in country parks.

OFCA has also continued to support the industry’s activities. In
2018/19, OFCA sponsored the World Telecommunication and
Information Society Day Hong Kong 2019, an annual activity
organised by the CAHK to promote the latest developments
in information and communications technology to the public,

especially the youth and academic communities.

The Work of Advisory Committees
Telecommunications Advisory Committees

Three advisory committees, namely the Telecommunications
Regulatory Affairs Advisory Committee, the Radio Spectrum
and Technical Standards Advisory Committee, and the
Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory Committee,
were established under OFCA in June 2012. These committees
provide a regular and formal channel for the industry,
telecommunications service users and interested parties to
advise OFCA on the formulation and implementation of various

telecommunications regulatory measures and policies.

Members of the advisory committees are drawn from different
sectors of the telecommunications industry, relevant government
departments, non-governmental organisations, as well as the
general public. This helps provide a balanced representation
of views on, at times, highly technical and complex issues. The

term of appointment is two years.

The membership lists of the three advisory committees as of
31 March 2019 are in Appendix B.

Television and Radio Consultative Scheme

The role of the Television and Radio Consultative Scheme
(TRCS) is to provide qualitative input on television and radio
programming to the CA's public consultation process. Members
are drawn from all 18 districts of the territory. In 2018/19,

OFCA invited members of the TRCS to give their views on the
review of the regulations governing indirect advertising and
advertisements for undertakers and associated services during
the public consultation held from 28 March to 28 April 2018. In
addition, OFCA held focus group discussions with members of
the TRCS to collect their in-depth views on the subjects.

A BAPRI=(EEZAZEGEIAREFEBALHSAEA
RELRBABRABNREHER -
Three advisory committees under OFCA have been established
to provide a regular and formal channel for various parties to
advise OFCA on the telecommunications regulatory measures and
policies.
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OFCA regularly organises a variety of staff activities to advocate the importance of work-life balance and strengthen the

sense of belonging among colleagues.



An Energetic and Versatile
Workforce

To provide professional support to the CA in the fast-changing
and ever-advancing environment of the communications
industry, OFCA adopts a proactive, forward-looking and
integrated approach to human resource management and
strategic manpower planning. Organisational reviews are
conducted regularly to ensure the most effective and efficient

use of available manpower resources.

There were 458 staff as of 31 March 2019, comprising 328 civil
servants, 122 staff employed on non-civil service contract terms,
and eight staff employed on post-retirement service contract

terms.

Training and Development

OFCA attaches great importance to the training and
development of staff members, and strive to enhance their
professional knowledge and capabilities to deal with the
challenges posed by the rapidly evolving environment, such as
emerging new technologies, increasing public demands and

internal driving forces arising from various initiatives.

A Training and Development Committee has been established to
oversee the implementation of OFCA training and development
policies for departmental officers in order to take a holistic view
on the training needs of staff and to strengthen arrangements

for grooming officers with strong potential.

A variety of vocational and managerial courses and in-house
training programmes were conducted in 2018/19. These
included courses on competition law, law enforcement,
licensing, technical training, prosecution and investigation skills,
information and communications technology, management

and leadership, performance management, languages,

communications, complaint handling, integrity management,
occupational safety, emotional and physical wellness, records
management and national studies. OFCA continued to
sponsor staff members on courses organised by international
organisations and overseas institutions, such as those provided
by King’s College London, to enhance their technical and
professional skills. The trainee count for the year was 809 and

the training man-day count was 628.

OFCA has been accredited as a Manpower Developer by the
“Employee Retraining Board” for its outstanding achievements

in manpower training and development since 2016.

Awards and Commendations

In 2018/19, eight OFCA staff members received the Director-
General's Commendation for Long and Valuable Service, 25
received the Long and Meritorious Service Award, and three

received the Long and Meritorious Service Travel Award.

Recreational Activities and
Volunteer Services

To help staff members develop a healthy lifestyle and to foster
a greater sense of belonging with their co-workers, OFCA
regularly organise staff recreational activities, including outings,
luncheon talks, sports activities and an annual departmental
dinner gathering. Staff members also participated in the
Corporate Games 2018 organised by the Leisure and Cultural
Services Department. To show care for the community, OFCA
regularly participates in a number of volunteering and charity
events. OFCA has been awarded the “Caring Organisation”
logo by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service every year
since 2007 and the “Social Capital Builder Logo Award” by the
Community Investment and Inclusion Fund of the Labour and

Welfare Bureau since 2016.



Brf i Ak 55

Financial Results

2018 19 EERIFEANT

. HBEABEEESME > 2018 19FER
MBI —F - FERFH2017 184
EH94,0908 BT FRAE3,0808/ETT © EE
BEYFEEFREIH—FRINT1.9%E
DE-0.8% c BFEEHANEEZ HEM -
LR R 32 H B8 e RIS A S N 44

. RERIMARA.997EETT - REFM4L.762
EETRE  REEREREE  MEEA
TR « SNEESFERAEMNIRTHE
A SR AIE A -

CEXHAE 2018 19FEHEEHE T
7.7%ZE4.689EHETT  TEMMNRE LA
TERFESIE M -

- RERK - B SGRENE AR IS TAHR TR
H o EHWE  BAHEARBBEMREFEAN
TR WHRFAE R ES B L8 - B
BErERBHEXER  EERNREN
BT -

Financial Results 2018/19

1. 2018/19 was a challenging year for the OFCA Trading Fund. The
profit for the year fell to HK$30.8 million from HK$40.9 million in
2017/18. The rate of return on average net fixed assets (“ANFA")
decreased to -0.8% from 11.9% a year before. This was primarily
the result of increased operating expenditure and partly offset by an

increase in revenue.

. The total revenue at HK$499.7 million was higher than the amount
of HK$476.2 million last year due to increase in revenue from licence
fees and services provided to related parties as well as interest income

from the placement with the Exchange Fund and bank deposits.

On the expenditure side, the total expenditure rose by 7.7% to
HK$468.9 million in 2018/19 mainly due to increase in staff costs and

administrative expenses.

Looking ahead, with the anticipated launch of 5G mobile
communications services, in the short term we are optimistic that the
communications sector in Hong Kong will enter a new era and remain
vibrant and dynamic. With a dedicated and professional team in

OFCA, we are well placed to face the challenges in the coming year.
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LA Revenue

HHBBE Licence fees

85.4 % (87.9 %)

X il Expenditure

BT staff
80.2 % (81.3 %)

* ESENR2017 18EEHT
In parentheses are 2017/18 figures

Financial Results

Highlights of the financial performance:

Revenue
Expenditure
Profit

Return on ANFA

499.7
468.9
30.8

-0.8%

BR¥EE Service charges
6.7 % (5.9 %)

FISUZA Interest income
6.4 % (5.1 %)

I8 Miscellaneous
1.5 % (1.1 %)

#5358 Operation
17.2 % (15.0 %)

476.2

435.3

40.9

11.9%

ITE Ri#EH Depreciation & amortisation
2.2 % (3.1 %)

E8R Consultancy
0.4 % (0.6 %)
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Report of the Director of Audit

Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

Independent Auditor's Report
To the Legislative Council

Opinion

| certify that | have examined and audited the financial statements of
the Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund set out on
pages 45 to 80, which comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 March 2019, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund as at 31 March 2019, and of its results of operations and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the manner provided in section 7(4) of the Trading
Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430).

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with section 7(5) of the Trading
Funds Ordinance and the Audit Commission auditing standards. My
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section
of my report. | am independent of the Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund in accordance with those standards, and |
have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those
standards. | believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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Report of the Director of Audit

Responsibilities of the General Manager, Office
of the Communications Authority Trading Fund
for the financial statements

The General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the General Manager, Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund is responsible for assessing the
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
the Audit Commission auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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B BEBRASE Report of the Director of Audit
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skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

— identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

— obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Office of the Communications Authority

Trading Fund’s internal control;

— evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the General Manager, Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund;
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Report of the Director of Audit

conclude on the appropriateness of the General Manager, Office
of the Communications Authority Trading Fund’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, |
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund to cease to continue as a

going concern; and

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Ms Hildy Chan
Assistant Director of Audit (Acting)
for Director of Audit

Audit Commission
26" Floor, Immigration Tower
7 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

24 September 2019
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HIF5 R Financial Statements

el EAES Statement of Comprehensive Income

HZE20195F3A831HLEE for the year ended 31 March 2019

(LUBHSF T F7) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

RKEEFAHZWA Revenue from contracts with customers 4 460,888 447,129
BIERA Operating costs 5 (468,945) (435,287)
EfE (B8) BA (Loss) / Profit from operations (8,057) 11,842
Hi A Other income 6 38,862 29,096
FERA Profit for the year 30,805 40,938
Hith 2T sk Other comprehensive income - -
FEEZEWNE Total comprehensive income for the year 30,805 40,938
ElE EEEHRE Rate of return on fixed assets 7 -0.8% 11.9%

FA9E0EMME AR BIMEZAN—EED o The notes on pages 49 to 80 form part of these financial statements.



BAFEERE= Financial Statements

BIFFIA R T Statement of Financial Position
2019%F3H31H as at 31 March 2019
(LB FTliiZ)r) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
FEREBEE Non-current assets
W~ BB N Property, plant and equipment 8 133,254 134,783
EEE Intangible assets 9 3,432 1,562
SNER S FR Placement with the Exchange Fund 10 510,322 487,880
647,008 624,225
mEEE Current assets
& WS bR 3k B L fih fE U 3R TE Trade and other receivables 11, 12(a) 120,191 3,445
FEWAMNEE STFRF S Interest receivable from placement with the
Exchange Fund 3,649 5,534
Hi R & Other interest receivable 3,640 711
BITER Bank deposits 520,900 713,500
R MIBITHERR Cash and bank balances 5,432 3,218
653,812 726,408
mEBEE Current liabilities
eI IRFR N B BT FRIE Trade and other payables 21,062 17,832
EERBABHE Provision for employee benefits 13 12,739 9,324
eI B A T RFR Amounts due to related parties 19 31,960 29,525
IEIEW A Deferred income 12(b) 114,699 203,097
180,460 259,778
MENEEEE Net current assets 473,352 466,630
BEERERBEE Total assets less current liabilities 1,120,360 1,090,855
ERFERE Non-current liabilities
EERANEE Provision for employee benefits 13 86,217 87,517
FEE NET ASSETS 1,034,143 1,003,338
BN f# CAPITAL AND RESERVES
BEASEAR Trading fund capital 14 212,400 212,400
BREEE Development reserve 15 690,165 690,165
REBEBA Retained earnings 16 131,578 100,773
1,034,143 1,003,338
RMHE Chaucer Leung
BNEBEEERHAT General Manager,
SEETRKE Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund
2019498 24H 24 September 2019

FAIZ0EMMEAART BIRMEZAN—ED o The notes on pages 49 to 80 form part of these financial statements.
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HAfS R =R Financial Statements

EREEE Statement of Changes in Equity

HE20195F3A310LEE for the year ended 31 March 2019

(LUCBHBEFTFIR) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FEWFEER Balance at beginning of year 1,003,338 962,400
FEHEZEWE Total comprehensive income for the year 30,805 40,938
FRRiEER Balance at end of year 1,034,143 1,003,338

FAIZ0EMME AR BIREZAN—ED ©  The notes on pages 49 to 80 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 31 March 2019
(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss) / Profit from operations
Sundry income

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other
receivables

Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other
payables

Increase in amounts due to related parties
(Decrease) / Increase in deferred income

Increase / (Decrease) in provision for employee
benefits

Notional profits tax paid

Net cash (used in) / from operating
activities
Cash flows from investing activities

(Increase) / Decrease in placement with the
Exchange Fund

Decrease / (Increase) in bank deposits with
original maturities over three months

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

Expenses for disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Interest received
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The notes on pages 49 to 80 form part of these financial statements.

(8,057) 11,842
6,967 206
15 20
9,440 12,382
926 995
(116,744) 15,426
1,656 (22,320)
1,668 2,006
(88,398) 31,210
2,115 (1,796)

- (2,197)
(190,412) 47,774
(22,442) 416,286
211,000 (497,100)
(8,368) (1,393)
(15) 3)
30,851 24,877
211,026 (57,333)
20,614 (9,559)
11,718 21,277
17 32,332 11,718
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BAFEER = Financial Statements

B F5 R M EE Notes to the Financial Statements
(BR45BYEEEES) © BT 2 BB LUBHEF TSR » ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
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1. General

The Office of the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA) Trading
Fund was established on 1 June 1995 under the Legislative Council
Resolution passed on 10 May 1995 pursuant to sections 3, 4 and
6 of the Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430). By virtue of section
25 of the Communications Authority Ordinance (CAO) (Cap. 616)
which came into operation on 1 April 2012, the OFTA Trading Fund
was renamed as the Office of the Communications Authority (OFCA)
Trading Fund (the Fund) on the same date. The OFCA serves as the
executive arm of the Communications Authority (CA), which is a
statutory body set up under the CAO to administer and enforce the
Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562), the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391), the CAQ, the Telecommunications
Ordinance (Cap. 106) and the Unsolicited Electronic Messages
Ordinance (UEMO) (Cap. 593), as well as the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Cap. 362) and the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619),
and to perform any function under or by virtue of any Ordinance.
The Fund, which is under the policy portfolio of the Commerce and
Economic Development Bureau of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (the Government), supports the
principal activities of the CA, as follows:

(@) licensing and regulating telecommunications services and
broadcasting services;

(b) managing Hong Kong's radio frequency spectrum;
(¢) providing advisory, planning and support services on

telecommunications, broadcasting, anti-spamming matters to
the Government;

(d) overseeing technical standards and representing the
Government on international affairs;

(e) enforcing the UEMO; and

(f) ensuring the enforcement of fair trading practices and fair
competition in relation to telecommunications and broadcasting
sectors.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs),
a collective term which includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA). A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Fund is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Fund. Note 3 provides information on
the changes, if any, in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Fund for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.
Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is historical cost.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

(0

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

There are no critical accounting judgments involved in the
application of the Fund's accounting policies. There are also no
key assumptions concerning the future, or other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the next year.

Certain comparative figures for the year ended 31 March
2018 have been reclassified to conform to the current year's
presentation of the Fund's financial statements.

Fixed assets

The fixed assets appropriated to the Fund on 1 June 1995 were
measured initially at deemed cost equal to the value contained
in the Resolution of the Legislative Council passed on 10 May
1995. Fixed assets acquired since 1 June 1995 are capitalised at
the actual costs of acquisition or installation.

(i)  Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses (note 2(d)):

- land classified as held under a finance lease and building
held for own use situated thereon; and
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Fixed assets (continued)

(i)  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

- plant and equipment, including telecommunications and
broadcasting equipment, computer systems, furniture,
fixtures and motor vehicles.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

- Land classified as held over the unexpired term
under a finance lease of lease

- Buildings situated on over the shorter of the
leasehold land unexpired term of lease

and their useful lives

- Equipment 5to 12 years
- Computer systems 5 years
- Furniture and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Gains or losses arising from the disposal of property, plant
and equipment are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income on the date of disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(0

(d)

(e)

Fixed assets (continued)
(i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired computer software
licences and capitalised development costs of computer
software programs. Expenditure on development of
computer software programs is capitalised if the programs
are technically feasible and the Fund has sufficient resources
and intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes direct labour and cost of materials.
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses (note 2(d)).

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives of 5 to 12 years.

Impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets, including property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed at the
reporting date to identify any indication of impairment.

If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income whenever the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less
costs to sell and value in use.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
(i) Initial recognition and measurement

The Fund’s financial assets comprise placement with the
Exchange Fund, trade and other receivables, interest
receivables, bank deposits, and cash and bank balances.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Fund’s financial liabilities comprise trade and other
payables, provision for employee benefits and amounts due
to related parties.

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial liabilities
on the date it becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. At initial recognition, financial assets
and financial liabilities are measured at fair value plus or
minus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets or the issue of the financial
liabilities.

Classification and subsequent measurement from 1 April 2018

After the adoption of HKFRS 9 "Financial Instruments” (note
3(a)), the Fund classifies all financial assets as subsequently
measured at amortised cost using effective interest method,
on the basis that they are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold them for collection of contractual
cash flows and the contractual cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest. The measurement of
loss allowances for financial assets is based on the expected
credit loss model as described in note 2(e)(v).
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2. XEBECER ()
() SMEEREMER ()

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement from 1 April 2018
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(continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
and of allocating and recognising the interest income or
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised
cost of the financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, the Fund estimates the expected cash flows by
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument
but does not consider the expected credit losses. The
calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties
to the contract that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts.

The Fund classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently
measured at amortised cost using effective interest method.

The Fund reclassifies a financial asset when and only when
it changes its business model for managing the asset. A
financial liability is not reclassified.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Classification and subsequent measurement prior to
1 April 2018

Under HKAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement", the Fund’s financial assets, which were
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that were not quoted in an active market and
which the Fund had no intention of trading, were classified
as loans and receivables and were carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less impairment losses, if
any (note 2(e)(vi)).

The classification of the Fund’s financial liabilities and their
subsequent measurement prior to 1 April 2018 were the
same as those from 1 April 2018 (note 2(e)(ii)).

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
where the financial asset together with substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled, or when
it expires.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets from 1 April 2018

After the adoption of HKFRS 9 (note 3(a)), the Fund applies
a three-stage approach to measure expected credit losses
on financial assets (other than trade receivables) measured
at amortised cost and to recognise the corresponding loss
allowances and impairment losses or reversals, with the
change in credit risk since initial recognition determining the
measurement bases for expected credit losses:

Stage 1: 12-month expected credit losses

For financial instruments for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
portion of the lifetime expected credit losses that represent
the expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date are recognised.

Stage 2: Lifetime expected credit losses — not credit impaired

For financial instruments for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but
that are not credit impaired, lifetime expected credit losses
representing the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the financial
instrument are recognised.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
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(v)

Impairment of financial assets from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Stage 3: Lifetime expected credit losses — credit impaired

For financial instruments that have become credit impaired,
lifetime expected credit losses are recognised and interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost rather than the gross carrying amount.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

Determining significant increases in credit risk

At each reporting date, the Fund assesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk for financial
instruments since initial recognition by comparing the
risk of default occurring over the remaining expected life
as at the reporting date with that as at the date of initial
recognition. The assessment considers quantitative and
qualitative historical information as well as forward-looking
information. A financial asset is assessed to be credit
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2. XEBECER ()
() SMEEREMER ()

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Impairment of financial assets from 1 April 2018 (continued)

(v) 2018F4R1HEERMEERRE v)

(#&)

LEESTEMEMNNIREER T
EEVNRERBUREERRES
RIEEI - R FENS @ £
BIARAREERRFENE
BRE TEEREMER  FE
[\ B AT AR R ELABAR BRI 3K o

HNERE BRI A IR E R BIAYIRTT
GREERBEEERR - Hit
TR TAEEEENERE  BX
ZHTFRERABRBEEES
HEHABTHANESRER
£ ERERBESERR - It
SeRMITENEERRS W
TE 70 B RD SR B B AR AL AR A 1
e

ETRMEEMZND  ZEHE
S EARRA R IR IR IR MEE - =%
FEERTHAMBLERFNE
EBRSREME - 2RWKE%
BRSNS T2 EMNER
WHER °

The Fund assesses whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition on an individual
or collective basis. For collective assessment, financial
instruments are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk
characteristics, taking into account investment type, credit

risk ratings and other relevant factors.

Placements with banks with an external credit rating of
investment grade are considered to have a low credit
risk. Other financial instruments are considered to have
a low credit risk if they have a low risk of default and the
counterparty or borrower has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. The
credit risk on these financial instruments is assessed as not
having increased significantly since initial recognition.

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written off
against the related loss allowance. Such assets are written
off after all the necessary procedures have been completed
and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses of a financial instrument are an
unbiased and probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the
expected life of the financial instrument. A cash shortfall is
the difference between the cash flows due to the Fund in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Fund expects to receive. For a financial asset that is credit
impaired at the reporting date, the Fund measures the
expected credit losses as the difference between the asset's
gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective
interest rate.

(vi) Impairment of financial assets prior to 1 April 2018

The carrying amount of financial assets was reviewed
at each reporting date to determine whether there was
objective evidence of impairment. If any impairment
evidence existed, an impairment loss was recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. If in a subsequent period, the
amount of such impairment loss decreased and the decrease
could be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss had been recognised, the impairment loss
was reversed through the statement of comprehensive
income.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

)

(9)

Deferred income

If a customer pays consideration, or the Fund has an
unconditional right to consideration, before the Fund transfers a
service to the customer, the Fund recognises its contract liability
as deferred income. The Fund derecognises the deferred income
and recognises revenue when the Fund transfers the service and,
therefore, satisfies its performance obligation.

Notional profits tax

The Fund has no tax liability under the Inland Revenue Ordinance
(Cap. 112).
Government had required the Fund to pay to the Government an

However, prior to 27 December 2017, the

amount in lieu of profits tax (i.e. notional profits tax) calculated
on the basis of the provisions of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.
The accounting policies adopted by the Fund for notional profits
tax were as follows:

(i)  Notional profits tax expense for the year comprised current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

(i) Current tax was the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Notional profits tax (continued)

(iii) Deferred tax assets and liabilities arose from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arose from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it was probable that future taxable profits would
be available against which the assets could be utilised, were
recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised was measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities were not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset was reviewed
at each reporting date and was reduced to the extent that
it was no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
would be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such deduction was reversed to the extent that
it became probable that sufficient taxable profit would be
available.

However, the Fund is no longer required to pay notional profits
tax with effect from 27 December 2017. The balance of notional
profits tax payable and the balance of deferred tax liabilities as
at 27 December 2017 were derecognised, with corresponding
income recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2018 (note 6).
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Revenue recognition

0)

From 1 April 2018, after the adoption of HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers” (note 3(b)), the Fund recognises
revenue from contracts with customers when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised service to a
customer, at the amount of consideration to which the Fund
expects to be entitled in exchange for the service. Prior to
1 April 2018, licence fees received were credited to deferred
income and amortised to profit and loss over the validity period
of the licences. Service income was recognised when services
had been provided.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.
Employee benefits

The employees of the Fund comprise civil servants and contract
staff. Salaries, staff gratuities, and annual leave entitlements are
accrued and recognised as expenditure in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by the staff. For civil servants,
staff on-costs, including pensions and housing benefits provided
to the staff by the Government, are charged as expenditure in
the year in which the associated services are rendered.

For civil servants employed on pensionable terms, their pension
liabilities are discharged by reimbursement of the staff on-cost
charged by the Government. For other staff, contributions
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged to the
statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

0

(k)

)

(m)

Related parties

The Fund is a separate accounting entity within the Government
established under the Trading Funds Ordinance. During the
year, the Fund has entered into transactions with various related
parties, including government bureaux and departments, other
trading funds and financially autonomous bodies controlled
or significantly influenced by the Government, in the ordinary
course of its business.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
into Hong Kong dollars using the spot exchange rates at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in currencies other than Hong Kong dollars are translated into
Hong Kong dollars using the closing exchange rate at the
reporting date. All foreign currency translation differences are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity when placed or acquired.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when there is a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made.

Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.



Brf i Ak 55

Financial Results

Financial Statements

R RS
BTSRRI

(BR¥FBIGLERS) » BB £ERHLUBHS FITL SR )

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

3. Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain new or revised HKFRSs that are effective
for the current accounting period. None of them impact on the

accounting policies of the Fund except for the adoption of HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 15 as set out below.

The Fund has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is

not yet effective for the current accounting period (note 22).

(a)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39. It sets out the requirements for
recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities
and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.

The Fund has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items that
existed as at 1 April 2018 in accordance with the transition
requirements without restating comparative information. The
carrying amounts of the items as at 1 April 2018 have not been
impacted by initial application of HKFRS 9. The nature and effect
of the changes to previous accounting policies are set out below.



SRR
BTSRRI

(BR¥FBIGLEAS) » BB 28RS LUBHS FITL SR )

3. EEEEICR ()

(a)

BEMBRESERESR TEMTA,
(#&)

THEENIE

BBV BREENEIRHEHEE
DR=ZEERER - (i) REHEK
REFE (i) UAFEFAEM
28R (i) LATFERA
BT E - RFHAIBRREBGE
RIE39ER - BIFEZRE KR
& ERLBRIRS - AL ESR
BE  DURLDAFESANERRNS
MEE - RESBVBRSLERE
B eHEERREESHEENE
BRANBHEENGNERESRER
EMosE e

EEESBADEREFREWIRRK
(REBERAETIR) NEREE -
ERENDERRBHERAETEN
TRIEE (EE2(e)i)) - EEES
HERMEER201843831 HARE

EE2018F48 1 HAIREEMR °

SRS ERBE

ERAVBRESENEIRN "TRHE
BEiE BN T &R EAIE
39 TEEABE BE - THE
EEBERUERFEE2HSHE
EEBENEERR  FAEgREEE
FFERIZE39EM TEELEE,
IR EREREREERE - 28
ESHFMIEREEEEERERR
RBERAETENSREE (&
2(e)(v)) » BREMITBEREEH S
BB EE2018F48 1 HRMEE L

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

3. Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(@) HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

Classification of financial assets

HKFRS 9 classifies financial assets into three principal categories:
measured at (i) amortised cost; (ii) at fair value through other
comprehensive income, and (iii) at fair value through profit or
loss. These supersede HKAS 39's categories of held-to-maturity
investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is based on
the business model under which the financial asset is managed
and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

The Fund's financial assets previously classified as loans and
receivables (carried at amortised cost) were reclassified to
financial assets measured at amortised cost (note 2(e)(ii)). The
carrying amounts as at 31 March 2018 were the same as those
as at 1 April 2018.

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with the
“expected credit loss” model. The expected credit loss model
requires an ongoing measurement of credit risk associated with
a financial asset and therefore recognises expected credit losses
earlier than under the “incurred loss” accounting model in
HKAS 39. The Fund applies the new expected credit loss model
to the financial assets measured at amortised cost (note 2(e)(v)).
The initial application of the new impairment requirements had
no impact on the carrying amounts of the financial assets as at 1
April 2018.
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3. Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contacts with
customers, replacing HKAS 18 “Revenue” and HKAS 11
“Construction contracts”. HKFRS 15 also introduces additional
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts
with customers.

In accordance with the transition requirements, the Fund has
elected to apply HKFRS 15 retrospectively only to contracts
that were not completed before 1 April 2018 without restating
comparative information. The initial application of HKFRS 15
has not impacted the carrying amounts of any items as at
1 April 2018.

The accounting policies for revenue adopted under HKFRS 15
(note 2(h)) has not affected the amounts of any items in the year
ended 31 March 2019 compared to the previous accounting
policies.
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4. Revenue from contracts with customers

Telecommunications licence fees

Licences — Public 339,566 333,973
Licences — Private 44,523 43,625
Broadcasting licence fees 42,888 41,204

Services provided to related parties
(note 19(a)) 33,621 28,033
Miscellaneous revenue 290 294
460,888 447,129

The Fund supports the CA to administer and enforce various
ordinances including the Broadcasting Ordinance and the
Telecommunications Ordinance. The Fund’s performance obligations
in contracts with customers mainly involve licensing and regulating
telecommunications services and broadcasting services. A licensee
is required to pay service fee in advance. The Fund satisfies its
performance obligation as the service is rendered and recognises the
fee over time on a straight-line basis.

For advisory and project, and frequency assignment and protection
services provided to related parties, the Fund satisfies its performance
obligation as the service is rendered and recognises a service fee over
time on a full cost recovery basis.

Operating costs

Staff costs 376,218 353,908
Accommodation costs 20,146 19,647
Operating expenses 27,306 25,278
Administrative expenses 32,539 19,671
Consultancy fees 1,965 2,842
Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment 9,440 12,382
Amortisation of intangible assets 926 995
Audit fees 405 564

468,945 435,287




Brf i Ak 55

Financial Results

R RS
BTSRRI

(BR¥FBIGLERS) » BB £ERHLUBHS FITL SR )

6. HLUIgA

SELIAFESIIRRIE R E ERIA BUA
SNEESHER

RITHEN
RITHERR

AHSH TRV R BRI BB IR R
&

HIEWA (FYEE11)

20175 12827HF  BIRERABEE
BEESMBNZINAEZNERERE - &
20174812R27H » BBERBE—RER
EEASNINEBEBREFELIIR - BREZ
HIR o (BEESKER) BREAETE
EEASNTEERBERERKEREN
HEIRY A LR -

EERFEHZARE  BNERT MHBR
P 201748128270 - FTEEER
SEARBRZTZEZANEHEKE - 1
20174F12827H » »#423 98B TTHE
TEEFEBRIER R AT 3B TR
EHRFEEEROEFHEER > mE
ABIEEZE2018FE3 831 HIEFEMNRE
W RATER °

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

6. Other income

Interest income from financial
assets not at fair value

Placement with the Exchange

Fund 20,558 17,645
Bank deposits 11,335 6,532
Bank balances 2 1

31,895 24,178

Derecognition of notional profits
tax payable and deferred tax

liabilities - 4,712
Sundry income (note 11) 6,967 206
38,862 29,096

Prior to 27 December 2017, the Government had required all trading
funds to pay notional profits tax and dividends to the Government.
On 27 December 2017, the Court of Final Appeal handed down its
judgment in a judicial review case concerning the Fund. According
to the judgment, it was an error of law to construe the Trading Funds
Ordinance as permitting the inclusion in budgets of the Fund of
projections for notional tax or dividends.

Subsequent to the judgment, the Government made a change
in financial arrangement whereby all trading funds are no longer
required to pay notional profits tax and dividends to the Government
with effect from 27 December 2017. The balances of notional
profits tax payable of HK$4,239,000 and deferred tax liabilities of
HK$473,000 as at 27 December 2017 were derecognised, with
corresponding income recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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7. Rate of return on fixed assets

The rate of return on fixed assets is calculated as total comprehensive
income divided by average net fixed assets and expressed as a
percentage. Total comprehensive income is adjusted by excluding
interest income and interest expenses. Fixed assets include property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. The Fund is expected to
meet a target rate of return on fixed assets of 5.5% per year (2018:
5.5%) as determined by the Financial Secretary.

8. Property, plant and equipment

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2017

Charge for the year
Written back on disposal
At 31 March 2018

At 1 April 2018

Charge for the year
Written back on disposal
At 31 March 2019

Net book value
At 31 March 2019

At 31 March 2018

220,243 55,497 42,982 48,704 4921 372,347
3,875 1,088 - 301 5,264

(777) (809) (260) (167) (2,013)
220,243 58,595 43,261 48,444 5055 375,598
220,243 58,595 43,261 48,444 5,055 375,598
- 1,014 5,658 474 767 7,913

- - (1,733) (24) (559) (2,316)
220,243 59,609 47,186 48,894 5263 381,195
93,920 51,650 36,815 43,454 4,590 230,429
4,849 994 2,412 3,824 303 12,382

(777) (799) (253) (167) (1,996)
98,769 51,867 38,428 47,025 4,726 240,815
98,769 51,867 38,428 47,025 4,726 240,815
4,849 1,498 2,179 778 136 9,440

- - (1,731) (24) (559) (2,314)
103,618 53,365 38,876 47,779 4,303 247,941
116,625 6,244 8,310 1,115 960 133,254
121,474 6,728 4,833 1,419 329 134,783
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BI-EE 9. Intangible assets

% Cost

T4 At beginning of year 13,846 13,817
NE Additions 2,796 29
HE FHH Disposals (49) ]
F At end of year 16,593 13,846
RETELH Accumulated amortisation

T4 At beginning of year 12,284 11,289
FNEH Charge for the year 926 995
e FHEH O Written back on disposal (49) -
F# At end of year 13,161 12,284
IREFEE Net book value

iR At end of year 3,432 1,562

10. S EEBEFK
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10.

Placement with the Exchange Fund

The balance of the placement with the Exchange Fund amounted
to HK$510,322,000 (2018: HK$487,880,000), being the principal
sum of HK$480,000,000 plus interest paid but not yet withdrawn at
the reporting date of HK$30,322,000 (2018: HK$7,880,000). The
term of the placement is six years from the date of placement, during
which the amount of principal sum cannot be withdrawn.

Interest on the placement is payable at a fixed rate determined every
January. The rate is the average annual investment return of the
Exchange Fund’s Investment Portfolio for the past six years or the
average annual yield of three-year Government Bonds for the previous
year subject to a minimum of zero percent, whichever is the higher.
The interest rate has been fixed at 2.9% per annum for the year 2019
and at 4.6% per annum for the year 2018.
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11.

12.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 119,510 7,929
Less: allowance for impairment

loss - (5,097)

119,510 2,832

Advance payments 511 460

Deposits and other receivables 170 153

120,191 3,445

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss during the year
is as follows:

At beginning of year 5,097 5,097
Unused amount reversed (5.097) -
At end of year - 5,097

The loss allowance of HK$5,097,000 on an amount due from a
company in financial difficulties was reversed during the year when
the amount was received by the Fund, with corresponding income
included under sundry income (note 6).

Contract balances with customers
(@) Receivables and contract assets

For services provided to licensees, the balance of receivables at
the reporting date is presented as trade receivables in note 11.
The Fund does not have any contract assets.
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12. Contract balances with customers (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities

The Fund’s obligations to provide services to licensees for which
the Fund has received advance payments from the licensees
are presented as deferred income in the statement of financial
position. Licensees are required to pay annual licence fees
upon issue of the licence, and on each anniversary thereafter
during the validity period of the licences. Licence period for
each type of licence varies, ranging from 1 to 15 years. When
a licensee does not pay licence fee on an anniversary date, the
licence may be suspended or revoked and the contract with the
licensee would become unenforceable. The balances of deferred
income represent the aggregate amount of the transaction price
allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or
partially satisfied) at the reporting date. The Fund expects to
recognise the deferred income as revenue within one year. No
consideration from contracts with customers is not included in
the transaction price.

Significant changes in the balances of deferred income during
the year are shown below:

Decrease due to recognition (203,097) (171,887)
as revenue during the
year that was included
in the balances of
deferred income at
beginning of year
Increase due to advance 114,699 203,097
payments received
during the year
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13. Provision for employee benefits

This represents the estimated liability for employees’ annual leave
and obligations on contract-end gratuities payable to contract staff
for services rendered up to the reporting date (see note 2(i)).

14. Trading fund capital

This represents the Government’s investment in the Fund.

15. Development reserve

This is a reserve serving as a regulating mechanism to meet the
target return as well as to reduce the need for future fee increases.

Balance at beginning and
end of year 690,165 690,165

16. Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of year 100,773 -
Total comprehensive income for

the year 30,805 40,938
Transferred from proposed

dividend - 59,835
Balance at end of year 131,578 100,773

Representing:

Target returns required by the 25,322 17,814
Government (see note 7)
Other retained earnings 106,256 82,959

131,578 100,773
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While the target returns are entrusted to be retained in the Fund, they
belong to the Government pursuant to section 6(6)(c) of the Trading
Funds Ordinance and are not subject to the Fund’s disposal. The
Government will direct the transfer of the sum into general revenue
when appropriate.

With effect from 27 December 2017, the Fund is no longer required
to pay dividends to the Government (see note 6). Accordingly,
the balance of proposed dividend as at 27 December 2017 of
HK$59,835,000 was transferred back to the retained earnings during
the year ended 31 March 2018.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances 5,432 3,218

Bank deposits 520,900 713,500
526,332 716,718

Less: Bank deposits with
original maturities over
three months (494,000) (705,000)

Cash and cash equivalents 32,332 11,718

Capital commitments and other commitments

At 31 March 2019, the Fund had capital commitments, so far as not
provided for in the financial statements, as stated below:

Authorised and contracted for 7,980 372
Authorised but not contracted for 5,939 113
13,919 485
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18.

19.

Capital commitments and other commitments
(continued)

To help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
telecommunications service providers and their customers outside
the judicial system, a voluntary Customer Complaint Settlement
Scheme (the scheme) was set up in November 2012 by the
Communications Association of Hong Kong, the industry association.
By a Memorandum of Understanding signed on 30 April 2015, the
Fund will provide recurrent funding for the long term operation of
the scheme in the amount not exceeding HK$2,000,000 per annum.
During the year, the Fund had contributed HK$954,000 to the scheme
(2018: HK$855,000).

Related party transactions

Apart from those separately disclosed in the financial statements, the
other material related party transactions for the year are summarised
as follows:

(@) fees income for services provided to related parties included
advisory and project services amounting to HK$19,628,000
(2018: HK$14,032,000) and frequency assignment and protection
services amounting to HK$ 13,993,000 (2018: HK$14,001,000);

(b) expenses for services received from related parties included
accommodation, repairs and maintenance, legal advice,
central administration and auditing. In total, the Fund incurred
HK$27,818,000 on these services (2018: HK$25,305,000); and

() fixed assets acquired from related parties included motor vehicles
and furniture. The total amount of these fixed assets amounted
to HK$778,000 (2018:HK$301,000).
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19.

20.

21.

Related party transactions (continued)

Services provided by or to related parties were charged at the rates
payable by the general public where such services were also available
to members of the public, or on a full cost recovery basis where such
services were only available to related parties. Fixed assets supplied by
related parties were charged at full cost.

Balances with related parties as at 31 March 2019 are set out in the
statement of financial position.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2019, there were several outstanding litigation cases
filed with the court by licensees under the Telecommunications
Ordinance, claiming for restitution of excessive licence fees paid by
them since 1995. The Government intends to vigorously contest
these claims and will be responsible for claims for those amounts
related to notional profits tax and dividends which have been paid
to the Government by the Fund. In October 2018, the Government
and the CA decided that the other retained earnings of the Fund
of HK$82,959,000, being the total amount of notional profits tax
and dividend retained in the Fund after deduction of target returns
required by the Government, as at 31 March 2018 (see note 16)
would be set aside for refund of licence fees to the licensees, pending
resolution of the claims for restitution. The Fund considers that, based
on the legal advice obtained, the overall financial effect of the claims
cannot be estimated reliably.

Financial risk management
(@) Investment policy

To provide an ancillary source of income, surplus cash is invested
The portfolio includes
It is the
Fund’s policy that all investments in financial instruments should

in a portfolio of financial instruments.
fixed deposits and placement with the Exchange Fund.

be principal-protected.
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21. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Currency risk

()

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
currency exchange rates.

The Fund does not have significant exposure to currency risk as
substantially all of its financial instruments are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur
a financial loss.

The Fund’s credit risk is primarily attributable to placement
with the Exchange Fund, trade and other receivables, interest
receivables, bank deposits and bank balances. The Fund has
a credit policy in place and the exposure to these credit risks is
monitored on an ongoing basis.

To minimise credit risks, all fixed deposits are placed with licensed
banks in Hong Kong. These financial assets are considered to
have a low credit risk. The loss allowances are measured at
amounts equal to 12-month expected credit losses, which are
assessed to be immaterial by the Fund.

The credit quality of bank deposits and bank balances, analysed
by the ratings designated by Moody’s or their equivalent, is
shown below:

Credit rating:

Aal to Aa3 194,130 16,417
Alto A3 332,200 700,300
Total 526,330 716,717
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21. Financial risk management (continued)

()

(d)

(e)

Credit risk (continued)

While other financial assets are subject to the impairment
requirements, their expected credit losses were minimal.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the financial assets of the
Fund at the reporting date is equal to their carrying amounts.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in
meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The Fund manages liquidity risk by forecasting the amount of
cash required and monitoring the working capital of the Fund to
ensure that all liabilities due and known funding requirements
could be met. As the Fund has a strong liquidity position, it has a
very low level of liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk of loss arising from changes in
market interest rates. This can be further classified into fair value
interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Since all of the Fund's bank deposits bear interest
at fixed rates, their fair values will fall when market interest
rates increase. However, as they are all stated at amortised cost,
changes in market interest rates will not affect their carrying
amounts and the Fund's profit and reserves.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Fund's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk
is small as it has no major floating-rate investments.
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(f) Other financial risk

The Fund is exposed to financial risk arising from changes in the
interest rate on the placement with the Exchange Fund which is
determined every January (note 10). It was estimated that, as at
31 March 2019, a 50 basis point (2018: 50 basis point) increase /
decrease in the interest rates for 2018 and 2019, with all other
variables held constant, would increase / decrease the profit for
the year and reserves by HK$2,552,000 (2018: HK$2,439,000).

(g) Fair values

The fair values of financial instruments quoted in active markets
are based on their quoted prices at the reporting date. In the
absence of such quoted market prices, fair values are estimated
using present value or other valuation techniques, using inputs
based on market conditions existing at the reporting date.

All financial instruments are stated in the statement of financial
position at amounts equal to or not materially different from their
fair values.

22. Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments, new standards and interpretations
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2019 and
which have not been early adopted in these financial statements.

The Fund is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations
expected is expected to be in the period of initial adoption. So far
it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the Fund’s results of operations and financial
position.
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BHNESERERE
Membership of Advisory Committees

Mr LAU Tak Man
Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited

Mr Michael SHIU
Representative of HGC Global Communications Limited

Mr Dennis LAU Yu Hung

Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited / SmarTone Mobile Communications
Limited

Mr Eric TSUI

Representative of WTT HK Limited

Ms Susana HALLIDAY
Representative of Carrier Licensees NOT Providing Domestic Retail Fixed Services as a group

Mr HUNG Hing Chu
Representative of Carrier Licensees NOT Providing Domestic Retail Fixed Services as a group

Miss Sherry HU
Representative of Carrier Licensees NOT Providing Domestic Retail Fixed Services as a group

Mr CHAN Wai Man
Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited / Fantastic Television Limited

Mr Carlson CHU
Representative of PCCW Media Limited / HK Television Entertainment Limited

Mr Garry KUM
Representative of Television Broadcasts Limited

Mr Paul LAM CK
Representative of Hong Kong Commercial Broadcasting Company Limited

Mr KO Siu Ming
Representative of Metro Broadcast Corporation Limited

Mr NGAN Sing Yin
Representative of Radio Television Hong Kong

Dr ZHANG Rui
Representative of Asia Satellite Telecommunications Company Limited

Mr CHEN Xun
Representative of APT Satellite Company Limited

Mr HUNG Hing Chu
Representative of External Fixed Carrier / Unified Carrier (External Fixed Services) Licensees
as a group

Mr Vincent CHEN
Representative of Services-based Operators (MVNO and ETS Operators only) as a group

Mr Ralph RILEY
Representative of Public Radiocommunications Service / Wireless Internet of Things
Licensees as a group

Dr LEE Kam Chuen
Representative of Local Certification Bodies as a group

Mr Johnny SIU Choi Pai
Representative of Amateur Radio Societies as a group

Mr Joseph HO Chi Yun
Representative of Civil Aviation Department

Ms Diana CHAN Wing Yan
Representative of Hong Kong Police Force

Dr Simon WONG Sai Man
Representative of Independent Commission Against Corruption

Mr HO Ho Man
Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
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Chairman
Mr Chaucer LEUNG

Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA

Secretary
Ms Jamay WONG
Head of Consumer Affairs, OFCA

Members
Ms June IP Nga Kum
Representative of Consumer Council

Mr Ricky CHONG Lai Kei

Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong (CAHK)

Ms Edith HUI

Representative of The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

Mr Roy LAW

Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association (HKWTIA)

Mr Eric YEUNG Chuen Sing
Representatives of Small and Medium Enterprises

Mr CHENG Wing Cheung
Representative of Education Bureau

Dr Jonathan TANG Kin Wa
Representative of the Aged Community

Mr William TANG
Representative of the Disabled Community

Mr CHUNG Chi Ming
Representative of the Disabled Community

Ms CHAN Pui Yi
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr CHAN Wing Tsz
Representative as a Member of the Public

Ms CHENG Wai Kwan
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr HUNG Hin Ching
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr KUNG Yin Ming
Representative as a Member of the Public

Dr LAU Kin Wai
Representative as a Member of the Public

Ms Katy LAU
Representative as a Member of the Public

Dr Mary LEE Wing Ming
Representative as a Member of the Public

Miss Eva LAU Sau Fan
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr Richard TSANG Lap Ki
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr IP Wai Sun
Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis

Mr LAU Ka Keung, MH, JP
Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
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In 2018/19, we achieved/surpassed all performance targets in our 35 job
areas. The full list of our performance targets for 2019/20 are also set out
in the table below.

The level of service we provide is influenced to some extent by exceptional
circumstances and workloads during peak periods. The following table
takes these factors into account and sets out the standard service delivery
times we aim to achieve for a wide range of services.

2018 /195 2018/ 19FERBRBBE 20181958 2019/ 20FEE£RIEHBH
EEREEE (BHRBEENGHER) ERTHURBERE BEAERERBEEE)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average  Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard)  Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2018/19 for 2018/19 in2018/19 for 2019/20

BRI E B AR TS hA PR FR EE

Processing of Broadcasting Service Licence Applications

SEAMBIRE B R, HMABRER
8 B R#

Non-domestic Television Programme
Service/Other Licensable Television
Programme Service

BRI BN AR FEhA PR ER 5

s 100% 100% 4%  (100%)

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications

BENEIRBRFHER

Mobile Radio System Licence

RALHTRHE 3

Establishment of a new system

BY/IRENES 3

Relocation / Addition of base station

RBEES

Addition of mobile station

P

For stations of taxis

HinE4s
For other stations

BRBEHELRN

Replacement of mobile station equipment

iPEaei=

For stations of taxis

HinES4H
For other stations

BB RS

Replacement of base station equipment

BRER

Issue of licence

{Eolrlfiﬁrédays 98% 100% 3 v{%olrkfﬁédays (98%)
A 98% 100% 325« (98%)

{v%]olrlzﬁré days 99 % 1 00 % {v%]cﬂﬁé days (99 %)
vertg o 99% 100% 8w (99%)

worg s 99% 100% 5%« (99%)
worrg b 99% 100% 8w (99%)
kg 99% 100% 8 liiws (99%)
worg i 99% 100% 8w (99%)



RRIZEARIFAIREPEE (1F)

2018 /195 2018/ 19FERBRFEE
1R R IR (BEREEENANE)
Service Delivery Performance Target
Standard (% meeting service standard)
for 2018/19 for 2018/19

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications (continued)

AR BRI R
Radio Dealers Licence

T REBLEEBETHIRER
Industrial Scientific and Medical
Electronic Machines Licence

BRBRAENES « MRBREENEE
he B8R

Radiodetermination and Conveyance
of Commands, Status and Data Licence

BESHEARIFER
Satellite Master Antenna Television
Licence

MARE AR

Ship Station Licence

EREAER
Amateur Station Licence

EEEEIEEIE it
Self-provided External
Telecommunication System Licence

F—RENE_HRBEMREER
Services-based Operator Licence
—Class 1 and Class 2 Services

E=RRFEMEER
Services-based Operator Licence
— Class 3 Services

Rz (s8Rl -

1

2
14
1

BIEX

working days

99%
99%

BIfEX

working days

BIfEX

working days

99%

[ERR(FS

working days

98%

99%
99%

99%
98%
99%

BIfEX
working days

BIfEX

working days

BIfEX
working days

BIfEX
working days

BIfEX

working days

SREMEITRERRAK) RIEERE RBTHE

2018/19E 2019/ 20FERERERH
ERTURBERE (BREARRBRRER)
Actual Average  Service Delivery Standard

Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
in2018/19 for 201920
BIfER

100%
100%

(99%)
(99%)

working days

BIfEX

working days

BIfEX

working days

100%

1 BIfEX

working days

100%

100%
100%

TEHFRER

No new case

100%
100%

BIfX
working days

(

(
womass (9%

(

ERIFS
working days

vﬂ\i;lolrlﬁidays (98%)

1 BIEX

working days

2
14

Processing of Certificate and Endorsement Applications under the International Convention on Standards of Training,
Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW Convention)

2B LBRNLZ2RARERENET
Global Maritime Distress and Safety
System (GMDSS) Certificate and
Endorsement

2B EBRNZERREE

G EEE RS

GMDSS Certificate of Equivalent
Competency and Endorsement

BIfEX
working days

95%

ERR(FS

working days

95%

BIfX
working days

100% (95%)

BIfEX

working days

TEFER

No new case

(95%)
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2018 /195§ 2018/ 19EERBREFE 2018 /19FF 2019/ 20FEEEREED
EEREEE (ZHRHEENGHER) ERTORBERE BRABRERBEEE)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average  Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard)  Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2018/19 for 2018/19 in2018/19 for 2019/20
BIGETERE
Investigation of Radio Interference
HELRISHTE " s EeBIERNERES
. BEIERAETAS 0 0 A it 0
Interference on Investigation : Investigation within (
commercial services witin 9 Working deys 96 A) 1 00 A) 6 working days 96 /0
HEFERENTE % s HIEIfERAETASE
. L BIEXRETHE 0 0 it 0
Interference on broadcastin Investigation : Investigation within (
g saion Y \rking i %% 100% migionn (96%

FRIRSRES RERSEAGE

Processing of Applications for Numbers/Codes

e EBANSRIE X BT
Assignment of telecommunications 8 ﬁ%ﬁédaﬁ 90% 1 00% 8 {v%olrlgiidays (90%)

numbers and codes

B )\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%?&%ﬁ@

B IR

Checking, processing and acceptance 10 Br . 100% 100% 105 (100%)

of return of telecommunications
numbers

RIBARAEREEENR (EE (HIRIEI) FE) ~ (EREGD) - (BAUEHE) FINAR - EREMRBEREEHE  SEH
EBTFANEREERF (BT (EREG) 5FEXARHFRIN)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications Ordinance, the terms
or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (except for complaints relating to
Competition Provisions of the Broadcasting Ordinance)

HFISEE

Tssi@jf/an fterim reply 6 {vl?olrlfiﬁn?days 98% 1 00% 6 ﬁ%&?days (98%)
S EAENERBANIRF AR

\ é zz;u%@%%% » AR AR S

I%firm complainants of results of cases {\Eé%ff 98% 1 00% E&%&E (98%)

not involving an investigation ™* (or
report of progress to the complainant
if results of cases are not ready)

B EETHERENRRBARTAR
BEENSHEER (GBAR) ER™
(SEIARBENBIIZIR © RIFRGFA
WEER)

Inform complainants of the {\Ee%fg 98% 99.4% E:EEEE (98%)

Communications Authority

(CA)'s decision on complaints involving
a straightforward investigation ™ (or
report of progress to the complainant
if CA's decision is not ready)

S FU IR ER A PR R SO RIRERT -

Note  Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.



2018 /195§ 2018/ 19EERBRBEFE 2018 /19FF 2019/ 20FEEERERS
EEREEE (BHRBEENGHE) ERTIORBERE BRABRERBEEE)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average  Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard)  Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2018/19 for 2018/19 in2018/19 for 2019/20

RIBBRIREEER (FERE (FIEESD) E61) « (ERBIEG) ~ (BHMEGD) FINALE - EBEBERSIEGE - SER
¥BTRINEREERGF (BT (EBEGD) BRFEXARERIN) (&)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications Ordinance, the terms
or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (except for complaints relating to
Competition Provisions of the Broadcasting Ordinance) (continued)

B RETERAT PR FBRERA
BEEABNFHAS (HMKBEBERD
AEOR > RIASREFARSHERE)

Inform complainants of the CA's Efmhs 98% 1 00% E?nths (98%)

decision on complaints involving a
complex investigation ™ (or report
of progress to the complainant if CA’s
decision is not ready)

RIEBBREMEWEREEENR (BAIEG) SNBHARBEBIEGHIVHEERER
Handling of Consumer Complaints against Telecommunications Operators involving Suspected Breach of the
Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Service Licences

AR A (SN RAzEEHE

B Al TUTEE) BIfFX 0 0 BIfEX 0
Fu]l repl}y to com/lalai;ant (or interim 2 working days 90 A) 100 A) 2 working days (90 /0)
reply if full reply is not ready)

RRIZST LR F (BAUEM) BRFECE BRI IERMETT AR AR ER

Handling of Complaints against Operators relating to Competition Provisions or Misleading or Deceptive Conduct
Provisions of the Telecommunications Ordinance

7 WEER & I 4
Completion of investigation (or report ~ Withina further 80% Njg’ﬁf\ﬁv@i Within a further (80%)
of prog ress to the complalnant |'f 4-month perlod after 4-month perIOd after

investigation is not completed) preliminary investigation preliminary investigation

RIBAREWEHIREEER (BaAEG) SEMRFREBEARIZERIRF (BT (BHUEHM]) BRFECF ERE M
BRME1T B BV STRY IR ERBR I )

Handling of Industry Complaints against Operators (except for complaints relating to Competition Provisions and
Misleading or Deceptive Conduct Provisions of the Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach of
the Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Services Licences

TRGHIIAE (SRR
AT ARRFAREER) Wit ssrgs Wit
C leti ffull i tigati i
(c?r”r]gp%rltc:) gfoprougnlers];/ ?; It%ae o 4 @I{Fﬁq 90% No new case 4 @kaﬁﬁ‘i (90%)
complainant if full investigation is working days working days

not completed)

s R EIIER A FTIR LB W E HIERT -

Note  Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.



Appendix C | Performance Pledge

2018 /195§ 2018/ 19EERBREFE 2018 /19FF 2019/ 20FEEEREED
EEREEH (ZHRHEENGHER) ERTORBERE BRABRERBEEE)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average  Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard)  Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2018/19 for 2018/19 in2018/19 for 2019/20

RIZBEREBMEBAMRBIFE AL HER (FEmat R IEG) ($3628) A AT &R IR AVIRER
Handling of Complaints against Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licensees on Suspected Contravention of the
Fair Trading Sections of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance

ﬁﬂ%'ﬁ?ﬁ@i\@%ﬁ%% : %U MEEFA RABERT RERLFA

B (18 22 B TR A A 3fEAR 0 0 3ER R 0
Issue case progress to the Within 3 months upon 90 A) 1 00 A] Within 3 months upon (90 /0)
complainant if the case result is acknowledgement of acknowledgement of

not ready* receipt of the complaint receipt of the complaint

RRIZBRAIREEENR (FEEAE T EMEG) AR

Handling of Reports on Suspected Contravention of the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance

FERFEHIAE (SRR

HE - AMRFARSEER) Wi 0 0 Wi 0
Completion of full investigation = =

(or report of progress to the 1 Eeiefgw 90 A] 100 A) 1 V{%eieffw (90 /0)
complainant if full investigation is

not completed)

HEBBAMRFNAREHRIRFELHREE
Reply to Public Enquiries and Complaints of OFCA's Services

FlEIEER (SANReeR At

[O7 - Alia TS EE) Within 0 0 Within ( 0 )
Full reply for enquiries (or interim Eo%lj??a . 90 A] 100 A] v{%olrlgii?a . 90 /0
reply if full reply cannot be provided) 9 day 9 day

SRR (AT
AT BIARFARSERE) Within

Full reply for complaints (or report 1 BIfXA 90% 100% V\{]ithin BIfFXA (90%)

of progress to the complainant if full working days working days
investigation is not completed)

* SER2018F 108 BtARYIEE -

This is a new item introduced in October 2018.
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BIEEE (FE)

A0/ HOFTE
T¥# RELESSTHEM

BERGERARIEAVERRS

MENARTE

AARBREETRR

AHREBARE

MIRER (KERS)

RIFEBAER

BRERATELRES

A

- REREREE
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BRHIEARR
REBEMEE—RAE
RBEMEE=LRE
MAES

ZREEEE
MTERE Lﬂﬂ&%%
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i

HR

MRS R RAENR

Licences Issued and Renewed

Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licences

Issued / Renewed and Revenue Collected

(For the year ended 31 March 2019)
BBy E

No. of Licences
Issued / Renewed

Type of Licences

Broadcasting Licences

Domestic Free Television Programme Service 3
Domestic Pay Television Programme Service 2
Non-domestic Television Programme Service 14
Other Licensable Television Programme Service 22
Sound Broadcasting 2
Telecommunications Licences / Permits / Certificates
Academic Institution Self-provided 2
Telecommunications Installation
Aeronautical VHF Fixed Station 31
Aircraft Station 374
Amateur ATO 789
Amateur Station 2,605
Broadcast Radio Relay Station 13
Duplicate Licence 183
Examination & Issue of Certificate 1,770
Experimental Station 82
Fixed Internal / External Services (including for 50
Transmission of Television Programme)
Hotel Television (Transmission) 162
Import / Export Permit 753
Industrial, Scientific & Medical Electronic Machine 1,509
Mobile Radio System or Private Mobile Radio System 3,856
Mobile Services 8
Private Radio Paging System 5
Public Radiocommunications Service 8
Radio Dealers (Unrestricted) 3,786
Radiocommunications School 6
Radiodetermination and Conveyance of Commands, 205
Status and Data
Satellite Master Antenna Television 64
Self-provided External Telecommunications System 7
Services-based Operator of Class 1 or 2 Service 21
Services-based Operator of Class 3 Service 492
Ship Station 4,370
Space Station Carrier 12
Taxi Radiocommunications Service 24
Wide Band Link & Relay Station 52
Wireless Internet of Things 3
Total 21,285

AT
HK$

20,973,679
11,125,235
807,500
829,500
9,152,723

7,000

51,000
54,738
126,240
396,000
11,938
10,065
297,905
25,475
125,333,549

650,721
112,950
137,253
34,453,255
186,982,710
18,612
1,566,100
5,572,375
1,800
182,200

4,921,600
5,688
1,362,593
17,908,744
647,052
2,287,000
557,950
136,400
269,600

426,977,150
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Office of the Communications Authority

itk Address L BBEFERRKER213MATARE29E
29/F Wu Chung House, 213 Queen's Road East
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

BFHEER Enquiry Hotline : 2961 6333

#BE Website - www.ofca.gov.hk



